ORIGINAL
UnicilIVAL

#### **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

1

3

4

24

25

26

27

28

2 A Formal Statement of Charges, containing fourteen (14) counts, was filed by the Respondent, Commission on Judicial Discipline [hereinafter referred to as the "Commission"], against the Appellant, Elizabeth Halverson, on January 7, 2008. The charges essentially claimed 5 that Halverson engaged in several acts of judicial misconduct, including, inter alia, falling asleep 6 during court proceedings; engaging in *ex parte* communications with deliberating juries; engaging 7 in abusive behavior towards her staff; hiring and permitting private security personnel to be present 8 in her chambers; seeking to breach the computer system of the Clark County District Court; making 9 public statements about three judges which were not accurate; refusing to communicate with the 10 chief judge of the court except through her attorney; refusing to participate in the retrieval of a 11 terminated staff member's personal property from chambers; and making an erroneous statement to 12 the Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Department that unauthorized persons were in her chambers.

On May 17, 2007, some eight (8) months prior to the filing of the Formal Statement of 13 14 Charges, the Respondent, the Commission suspended Judge Halverson without notice or hearing 15 and later affirmed the suspension in July, 2007. Thereafter, in August, 2008, the Commission 16 conducted hearings on the Formal Statement of Charges. On November 17, 2008, the Commission 17 issued its "Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Imposition of Discipline." Of the 14 counts, 7 counts were dismissed in their entirety, and 3 counts were dismissed in part, with the balance of 18 19 the charges being sustained. The Commission then ordered that Judge Halverson be immediately 20 removed on a permanent basis from her elective office as a district judge, and forbidding her from 21 seeking judicial office again in Nevada.

22 This matter is now on appeal to this Court, which will conduct a *de novo* review. In re 23 Assad, \_\_\_\_ Nev. \_\_\_\_, 185 P.3d 1044 (2008).

#### **Statement of Facts**

Since Judge Halverson is appealing the order of removal, which is predicated on those counts which were sustained by the Commission, the Statement of Facts will be limited to those matters.

I. Count One was dismissed.

**II.** Count Two was sustained, finding that Judge Halverson was asleep on three occasions during her tenure, between January, 2007 and July, 2007.

#### A. <u>Mentis v Republic Services</u>

John Lukens, Esq., testified that he represented the plaintiff, Mentis. He stated that he observed Judge Halverson asleep during the *Mentis* trial. [T., Vol. 3, p. 707.] He testified that "[h]er eyes were closed, and she appeared to be asleep." [T., Vol. 3, p. 708.] He stated that the period she was asleep "would not have been more than a few moments which I was aware of." [T., Vol. 3, p. 708.] Notably, Mr. Lukens' testimony that Judge Halverson momentarily closed her eyes notwithstanding, he admitted that "the trial was proceeding nicely." [T., Vol. 3, p. 711.] He never reported this purported behavior to anyone.

Jeff Braun, Esq., testified that he represented the defendant, Republic Services. [T., Vol. 3, p. 736.] Mr. Braun testified that he never developed the impression that Judge Halverson was asleep during the trial. [T., Vol. 3, p. 734.] He stated that he did not see anyone trying to awaken Judge Halverson. [T., Vol. 3, p. 735.] He said that there was nothing out of the ordinary concerning Judge Halverson's conduct of the trial. [T., Vol. 3, p. 736.]

Judge Halverson testified that she did not fall asleep during the trial. [T., Vol. 3, p. 644.]
Thus, of the three witnesses who testified, Mr. Lukens said that, on a solitary occasion, Judge
Halverson was asleep *for a few moments* whereas both Mr. Braun and Judge Halverson testified that
she did not fall asleep.

B. <u>State v Sotomayor</u>

It was claimed that Judge Halverson fell asleep during the *Sotomayor* trial. Violet Radosta,
the Deputy Defender in the case, who was called as a witness by the Special Prosecutor, gave not
one word of testimony—not one—to the effect that she observed Judge Halverson sleeping, even
though she was present during the entire trial. [See T., Vol. 3, pp. 853-866.] Deputy District Attorney
Tina Sedlock, who prosecuted the case, was not even called as a witness by the Special Prosecutor.

Thus, neither of the two attorneys who participated in the trial testified that Judge Halverson was sleeping during the trial. An inference can be made that had Deputy District Attorney Sedlock been called to the stand by the Special Prosecutor, she would not have supported the Commission's case. Kathy Streuber, Judge Halverson's original court clerk, was asked the following questions and gave the following answers:

Q. [By Ms. Holmes] Were you present during the criminal trial of State versus Sotomayor, a case prosecuted by Tina Sedlock and defended by Violet Radosta?

A. Yes, I was.

Q. Do you recall—and that was in February of 2007?

A. Correct.

- Q. Do you recall if she [Judge Halverson] fell asleep during that case?
- A. I can't say for sure.

[T., Vol. 2, p. 497.]

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

Streuber testified with respect to her duties as court clerk, "[b]asically you are in the courtroom, a few feet away from the judge." [T., Vol. 2, p. 477.] Given the fact that she was present in the courtroom during all proceedings and trials [T., Vol. 2, p. 477], she most certainly should have been aware of whether the Judge was sleeping.

Johnnie Jordan, the bailiff, claimed to have seen Judge Halverson fall asleep during the *Sotomayor* trial. [T., Vol. 1, p. 76.] However, he also indicated that Judge Halverson said that her
blood sugar was low and that she needed a candy bar or something in order to raise her blood sugar.
[T., Vol. 1, pp. 77-78.]

Ileen Spoor, Judge Halverson's judicial assistant, could not identify *Sotomayor* as a case in which Judge Halverson was sleeping. However, she did mention that there was one occasion when she went into the courtroom to wake Judge Halverson and that the Judge mentioned that she had taken some medication and had closed here eyes for a moment. [T., Vol. 4, p. 893.] This again suggests a medical issue rather than sleeping.

Accordingly, of the witnesses who were in the courtroom, only Johnnie Jordan, a person of dubious credibility, claims that Judge Halverson was asleep. This is hardly the basis for finding charges sustained by clear and convincing evidence.

There was no testimony by anyone that the trial was in any manner adversely affected by the alleged sleeping. There was no testimony that any alleged sleeping occurred on more than one occasion during the Sotomayor trial. There was no testimony that such alleged sleeping had a duration which exceeded moments, as opposed to minutes or longer. There was no evidence to rebut the testimony from Judge Halverson that she suffered a hypoglycemic reaction which caused her momentary loss of consciousness and Jordan's testimony confirms rather than contradicts her testimony.

11 12

13

14

15

16

17

27

28

10

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

## <u>State v McDaniel</u>

**C**.

It was claimed that Judge Halverson fell asleep during the McDaniel case, at which Deputy District Attorney Lisa Luzaich Rego and Deputy Public Defender Jeffrey Maningo represented the parties.

Ms. Rego testified that she saw Judge Halverson sleeping during the trial. [T., Vol. 1, p. 232.] Ms. Rego's conclusion that the Judge was sleeping was based upon her claim that the Judge was "leaning back in her chair with her eyes closed. And shortly thereafter, her body flinched like that, and she woke up or opened her eyes." [T., Vol. 1, p. 232.] 18

19 Ms. Rego also claimed that Mr. Maningo, who represented the defendant in that case, was 20 standing closer to Judge Halverson than she was located. [T., Vol. 1, p. 273.] However, she claimed 21 that he was looking at the witness he was examining and as a consequence his back was to the Judge. 22 [T., Vol. 1, p. 272.] It is apparent that Ms. Rego's observations were not, and could not have been 23 accurate. Ms. Rego admitted that the witness was seated to the right of the judge. [T., Vol. 1, p. 24 272.] A view of the courtroom, which this Commission had an opportunity to see in video evidence 25 in the other parts of the case, makes it clear that Mr. Maningo could not have had his back to the 26 Judge while looking at the witness, since the witness seat is directly next to the judge.

In fact. John Lukens, one of the Special Prosecutor's own witnesses, testified as follows:

Q. ...So, if you're looking at the witness, would your back be to the judge?

A. No. [T., Vol. 3, p. 713.]

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

27

28

As a result, Ms. Rego's powers of observation must be discounted and her claim on this point cannot be viewed as providing clear and convincing evidence.

Jeffrey Maningo testified that when he questioned witnesses, his back was not to the Judge, but rather "the Judge would have been in front of me and to the right, and the witness would have been directly in front of me..." [T., Vol. 7, p. 1863.]

Jeffrey Maningo also testified that he did not see Judge Halverson sleeping during the trial.
[T., Vol. 7, p. 1863.]

12 The evidence concerning the alleged sleeping on the bench is remarkable for the reason that (1) there was no evidence that, if in fact Judge Halverson was sleeping, it was for more than a 13 14 momentary period of time. In the Mentis case, the testimony from Mr. Lukens was that the sleeping 15 was no more than a few moments on one occasion. In the Sotomayor case, the testimony from 16 Johnnie Jordan was that she was asleep for an unstated period of time on one occasion, but that she 17 indicated that it was the result of low blood sugar. In the McDaniel case, Ms. Rego stated that she 18 was asleep for an unstated period of time, also on one occasion. Judge Halverson denied sleeping 19 in any of these cases. [T., Vol. 2, p. 644.] No one testified that Judge Halverson was asleep for any 20 extended period of time.

Even more importantly, even if one concludes that Judge Halverson may have fallen asleep at any point in any of the three cases, there was zero evidence that she did not attend to her duties and that any such sleeping was more than on a solitary, momentary occasion, in any of the cases. There is a strong indication that on one occasion, Judge Halverson may have suffered from a drop in blood sugar which may have caused her to lose consciousness. Finally, there is no evidence at all that any alleged sleeping caused any problem in any of the trials. There is no evidence that Judge Halverson failed to make appropriate rulings on evidentiary objections or that she failed to perform any function pursuant to her judicial responsibilities. There is no evidence that any momentary snooze, if such actually occurred, had any actual effect of any kind on the administration of justice. There is no evidence from any juror that the jury observed Judge Halverson sleeping.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

III. Count Three alleged improper *ex parte* communications with deliberating juries.

#### Ex Parte Communication With Jury in State v McDaniel Α.

In this case, at the end of the week, Judge Halverson called a deliberating jury to the courtroom and, in open court, gave them some routine instructions regarding conduct when they were home and not together deliberating. She also answered some questions that jurors had concerning certain general issues. She did not make any statements regarding specific evidence in the case. This occurred in the absence of the parties' attorneys. Ileen Spoor, Judge Halverson's JEA, confirmed that Judge Halverson told her to call the attorneys prior to the jury's having been called into the courtroom. [T., Vol. 4, p. 997.] Spoor also confirmed that she did not tell the lawyers to come back to court. [T., Vol. 4, p. 997].

A video tape of that session was admitted into evidence and played for the Commission. In 16 that tape, Judge Halverson can be heard stating that she had expected the attorneys to be present in 17 the courtroom and she placed on the record that the attorneys, by failing to appear for reasons which 18 she did not know (inasmuch as she testified that she believed that Ms. Spoor had telephoned them 19 to be present in the courtroom), had waived their presence.

20 Judge Halverson was troubled by that and had the attorneys come to court the next 21 business day and showed the attorneys the video recording of the ex parte discussion. She was open 22 and forthright about everything.

#### **B**. Extra-Judicial Comments, re: State v McDaniel

24 Count 3(b) alleges that Judge Halverson made extrajudicial comments about the McDaniel 25 case, while the case was pending. However, there was no evidence demonstrating that the comments 26 might reasonably have been expected to affect the case's outcome or impair its fairness. Any

27

comments that may have been made were regarding court personnel or attorney conduct and not the case itself.

## C. Post-trial Media Interview, re: State v McDaniel

The charge claims that Judge Halverson gave a post-trial interview wherein she stated that attorneys in the *McDaniel* case either "conned" her or encouraged her to engage in an impermissible *ex parte* contact with jurors.

There is no evidence that Judge Halverson engaged in such conduct. The Special Prosecutor, recognizing the same, has filed a motion to amend her Formal Statement of Charges to state that such conduct occurred in the *Sotomayor* case, which motion was granted by the Commission. Again, even if any comments were made they were regarding court personnel or attorney conduct and not the case itself.

#### D. <u>Ex Parte Contact With Jurors in Sotomayor</u>

The Commission viewed a video recording of the proceedings, admitted into evidence as Exhibit "B," wherein, on February 15, 2007, Judge Halverson engaged in colloquy with attorneys representing the parties in *Sotomayor*. The tape clearly reflects that Judge Halverson, on more than one occasion, suggested that the jury be brought into the courtroom and that enquiries be made of them in open court with everyone present. The tape also clearly shows that the attorneys rejected such an approach and that one of them, the late Scott Waite, Esq., suggested that Judge Halverson go into the jury room, alone, and speak with the jurors, to which the other attorneys agreed.

Judge Stewart Bell, a witness called by the Special Prosecutor, testified that he first became
aware of the *ex parte* juror contact when Judge Halverson voluntarily brought it to his attention. [T.,
Vol. 3, p. 776.] Judge Bell indicated that his view of the incident was that this was a learning
experience. As he testified:

Q. Okay. And so realizing that she'd made a mistake, you wanted to let her know, and not only that she made a mistake, but she had obviously herself some concern because she wanted you to look at it and get your feedback, you then decided that you would look at it, and then you told her what you thought should be done so that she wouldn't have that

mistake repeated in the future, is that correct?

A. That's close to accurate.

Her slant was look, I've been accused of doing this, it wasn't my fault, the lawyers had sort of baited me into it.

And I did see where the lawyers asked her to communicate with the jurors, but it was pretty clear to me what their intent was. And I tried to explain to her what the appropriate procedure was so that this will not occur in the future, yes.

[T., Vol.3, pp. 777-778.]

Judge Bell's ultimate view of the incident was "lesson learned." [T., Vol. 3, p. 743.]

As is borne out by the video recording admitted as Exhibit "B," Judge Halverson reported

to the attorneys the jury's statements in the jury room, so that they all would know what the jury said.

**IV.** Count Four was dismissed in its entirety.

V. All of Count Five was dismissed except for sub-charges (c), (j) and (s). This Count involves Johnnie Jordan, a bailiff whose credibility is highly suspect. During Mr. Jordan's testimony, he became vituperative, belligerent, evasive and obstreperous. His demeanor, to put it bluntly, was of an individual who, instead of coming to tell the truth, was determined to make self-serving statements, accompanied by theatrics and outbursts which were uncontrolled by the Commission.

However, Jordan's claims were refuted by a number of witnesses.

Whereas Jordan claimed that Judge Halverson had him perform services which he did not want to do, Bobbi Tackett, currently retired as a judicial secretary, testified that she had spoken with Jordan and that Jordan had told her that he appreciated that Judge Halverson had hired him and that he would do anything for her. [T., Vol. 7, p. 1564.] She also testified as follows:

- Q. You say that Ileen—you said on cross-examination that Ileen Spoor told you that Johnnie Jordan was told by Judge Halverson that putting on her shoes was inappropriate?
- A. Correct.
- Q. Did she mention anything else that Judge Halverson said to Johnnie Jordan that she thought was inappropriate?

25

26

27

28

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

1	А.	She said that Johnnie couldn't do enough to please Judge Halverson, that he tried to—she was laughing when she told	
2		me this, that he tried to rub her shoulders, that he—you know he—he was just at her beck and call he just wanted to be there	
3		for her.	
4	Q.	And when she said he tried to rub her shoulders, did she say what Judge Halverson's reaction was?	
5 6	Α.	Judge Halverson said it's inappropriate, you need to—you know, this is not part of your job.	
7	[T., Vol. 7, pp. 1596-	1597.]	
8	Pamela Hump	ohrey, a court clerk in the Clark County District Court, testified that she was	
9	hired as a clerk in Ap	oril, 2007 for Department 23, which was Judge Halverson's department. [T.,	
10	Vol. 7, p 1635.]		
11	She also testif	fied as follows:	
12	Q.	Okay. Did you ever talk to Johnnie Jordan?	
13	А.	I did.	
14	Q.	Did Johnnie Jordan ever make any complaints about Judge Halverson?	
15			
16 17	A.	He never made any complaints. There was a conversation I had with Johnnie Jordan and another courtroom clerk. We discussed our satisfaction in Department 23 and he appeared to be very happy working there. So I don't think that there	
18		was anything going on wrong in that department.	
10	[T., Vol. 7, p. 1637]		
20	Q.	Okay. Now did you ever talk to Johnnie Jordan after he left the Department 23?	
21	А.	I did, maybe once or twice.	
22	Q.	All right. And did Johnnie Jordan ever say anything about	
23		Department 23 in that other conversation?	
24	A.	He did. I—I approached him because I hadn't seen him in the department for a while and wondered why I hadn't seen him.	
25		So I asked him why aren't you in Department 23 anymore? He said he was in POST, he was doing POST training. And	
26		so I said, well, are you going to come back? And he said yes, as soon as POST training is completed, I'll return to my—	
27		to Department 23, so—and then I just walked away.	
28		Page 9	

#### [T., Vol. 7, pp. 1637-1638.]

Thus, while Jordan claimed during these hearings to be victimized by Judge Halverson, he told quite a different story to others.

Jordan testified that he thought some services he performed were "demeaning." However, he admitted that he did not tell Judge Halverson that he thought they were demeaning. [T., Vol. 1, p. 194.] Moreover, he did not immediately make a report to the court administration that he felt that he was being asked to perform services which were demeaning. [T., Vol. 1, p. 189.]

VI. Subsections c, (d)and (e) of Count Six were dismissed. The charges under (a) and(b) claim that Judge Halverson yelled at other employees and utilized "foul language" in IleenSpoor's presence. The claim does not allege that any such conduct was directed at Spoor.

Ileen Spoor never testified that she found the work environment to be abusive. She never testified that she wanted to be moved to another department. In fact, she only left because she was fired by Judge Halverson when the latter discovered the ticket-fixing scheme which Spoor was conducting in the court's chambers. Further, Ms. Stuebner claimed that the only comment which offended her was that Ms. Spoor was like an elf.

Ileen Spoor never testified that yelling at other employees or the alleged use of "foul language" in her presence created a hostile work environment or that she was harassed on a religious or ethnic basis by said alleged yelling or utilization of foul language in her presence; neither did Ms. Spoor provide any evidence that yelling at employees, in her presence, or the utilization of foul language, in her presence, had any effect of any kind.

VII. Count Seven was dismissed in its entirety.

VIII. Count Eight was dismissed in its entirety.

IX. Count Nine was dismissed in its entirety.

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