IN THE MATTER OF THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH HALVERSON, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE, EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT, COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA

THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH HALVERSON, DISTRICT COURT JUDGE, EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT, COUNTY OF CLARK, STATE OF NEVADA,

Appellant,

vs.

NEVADA COMMISSION ON JUDICIAL DISCIPLINE,

Respondent.

Appeal from Nevada Commission on Judicial Discipline's Order of Removal and Bar on Subsequent Elections

## **RESPONDENT'S ANSWERING BRIEF**

Dorothy Nash Holmes, Esq. Nevada Bar No. 2057 Fahrendorf, Viloria, Oliphant & Oster LLP P.O. Box 3677 Reno, NV 89505 (775) 348-9999 (775) 348-0540 Fax Counsel for Respondent

Case No. 52760

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

#### ARGUMENT

18

19

20

I.

#### THE MISCONDUCT FOUND VIOLATED JUDICIAL CANONS AND THERE WAS SUBSTANTIAL, CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE PRESENTED.

The Commission is a constitutionally-established court of judicial performance. 21 Whitehead v. Nevada Commission on Judicial Discipline, 110 Nev. 128, 158, 906 P.2d 230 22 (1994), dec. clarified in den. of reh'g, 110 Nev. 380, 873 P.2d 946 (1994). The conduct 23 prescribed for judges and justices is more stringent than conduct generally imposed on other 24 public officials. In re Locatelli, 161 P.3d 252 (N.M. 2007). Judges must personally observe high 25 standards of conduct to preserve public confidence in the integrity and independence of the 26 judiciary. Denike v. Cupo, 926 A.2d 869 (N.J. 2007). The primary policy of the Nevada Code 27 of Judicial Conduct is to promote public confidence in the judiciary. Millen v. Eighth Judicial 28 Dist. ex rel. County of Clark, 122 Nev.1245, 148 P.3d 694 (2006).

- 11 -

The Special Prosecutor had dismissed some charges, or portions thereof, during the hearing and the Commission also dismissed some parts, pursuant to NRCP 52(c). The Commission then carefully scrutinized every section and subsection of the 14 counts and made findings and conclusions of misconduct on seven charges that most typified the outrageous behavior, demeanor and personality of this judge. This case is not like <u>In re Assad</u>, 24 Nev. 38, 185 P.3d 1044 (2008), where this Court found there was no willful misconduct, but rather an isolated incident; that there was significant mitigating evidence; and that there was no indication that the violation would be repeated. In fact, this case is just the opposite.

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

Counts 2, 3, 5 (c, j, s), 6 (a, b) 11, 13 and 14 (a, c and d) alleged violations of Canons 1, 2 9 and 3 of the Judicial Code. Those contain the basic requirements that a judge must act with 10 integrity and propriety, demonstrating high standards and compliance with the rule of law, and 11 perform in a manner that promotes the public's confidence in the judiciary. Clearly, those were 12 violated in each of the counts proved during the hearing of this case. Canons 3 and 4 and their 13 various sub-parts were charged because Judge Halverson did not perform her duties impartially, 14 patiently, courteously, diligently, professionally, competently, cooperatively, in a dignified 15 fashion, faithful to the law. She acted in a biased, discriminatory and totally improper manner, 16 mistreating members of her staff. Nor did she protect the right to be heard by refraining from 17 improper ex parte contacts with juries. She openly used her position as a judge to get media 18 attention in which she improperly discussed pending cases and told falsehoods about lawyers and 19 judges. She failed to work with fellow judges, her Chief Judge or court administrative personnel 20 and repeatedly did things to impede the administrative function of the court. Overall, her 21 conduct in seven months on the bench most certainly cast doubt upon her ability to act as a judge and it demeaned the very office. The applicability of these canons to the conduct of Judge 22 23 Halverson cannot be disputed.

When a canon of the Code of Judicial Conduct is used to assess the conduct of a judge,
the canon enjoys the status of law. <u>Holmes v. State</u>, 966 So.2d 858 (Miss. 2007). The Supreme
Court assumes statutes are valid and the challenger has the burden to make a clear showing of
unconstitutionality. <u>Halverson v. Secretary of State</u>, 124 Nev. Adv. Op. 47 (July 3, 2008). In
this case, Appellant has not shown that the canons are unconstitutionally vague.

The issue is whether the judicial standards give fair notice to those to whom they are directed, i.e., whether an ordinary judge could understand and comply with them. In the Matter of the Honorable Elizabeth Halverson, 123 Nev. 48, 169 P.3d 1161 (2007) (hereafter "Halverson I"), citing, Comm'n for Lawyer Discipline v. Benton, 98 S.W.2d 425, 437 (Tex. 1998). The Code of Judicial Conduct establishes standards against which a judge's conduct is measured (Halverson I) and they are not unconstitutionally vague, and they sufficiently define the conduct that is regulated or prohibited. State v. Colclazier, 106 P.3d 138 (Okla. 2002), citing, Allen v. City of Oklahoma City, 965 P.2d 387 (Okla 1998); In re Ellison, 789 S. W. 2d 469 (Mo. 1990); and Dodds v. Commission on Judicial Performance, 906 P.2d 1260, 1266 (Cal. 1995). Canon 2 is not unconstitutionally vague. In re Assad, citing, Matter of Young, 522 N.E.2d 386, 387-88 (Ind. 1988); Miss. Comm'n. on Jud. Performance v. Spencer, 725 So.2d 171, 176 (Miss. 1998); In re Hill, 8 S.W.2d 578, 582-83 (Mo. 2000); In Re Disciplinary Action Against McGuire, 685 N.W.2d 748, 761-62 (N.D. 2004). Nor are canons that prohibit public commentary on a pending 13 case unconstitutional. Chicago Council of Lawyers v. Bauer, 522 F.2d 242 (7th Cir. 1975). 14

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

Contrary to the statements of Appellant, it is not accurate that the Commission can only 15 discipline Judge Halverson if it found intentionally bad conduct. The relevant inquiry was into 16 the intentional nature of the actor's conduct, and not whether the actor was acting out of malice 17 or ill will. Matter of Fine, 116 Nev. 1001, 1021, 13 P.3d 400 (2000). NRS 1.4653 does 18 recognize willful misconduct as one instance that warrants removal, censure or other forms of 19 discipline. It also, however, provides that if one "willfully or persistently failed to perform the 20 duties of [his] office," judicial discipline is also permitted. "Willful misconduct" is defined at 21 NRS 1.4653 (4)(b)(2) as a "knowing or deliberate violation of one or more of the provisions of 22 the Nevada Code of Judicial Conduct; or a "knowing or deliberate act or omission in the performance of judicial administrative duties that: (I) Involves...bad faith...or amounts to a 23 public offense; and (II) Tends to corrupt or impair the administration of justice in a judicial 24 proceeding. NRS 1.4653(4)(b)(3)." 25

"Willful misconduct" is also committed if a judge "knowingly or deliberately swears 26 falsely in testimony before the Commission or in documents submitted to the Commission. See 27 NRS 1.4653 (4)(b)(4). As the Commission noted, Judge Halverson did just that, repeatedly, in 28

<sup>1</sup> her testimony during the hearing. These sections empowered the Commission to remove Judge
<sup>2</sup> Halverson from the bench.

Other states support Nevada's position. See In re Freeman, 995 So.2d 1197 (La. 2008) 3 (An act need not be intentional to support judicial discipline); In re Lorona, 875 P.2d 795, 178 4 Ariz. 562 (Ariz. 1994) (willful misconduct is not required to support the suspension of a judge); 5 In re Elloje, 921 So.2d 882 (La. 2006) (An act does not have to be intentional to support judicial 6 discipline. No subjective intent is required; it can be negligence or ignorance not amounting to 7 bad faith....If it is egregious, it can be found to be an act done in bad faith or as a pattern or 8 practice of legal error.); In re Justice of the Peace Alfonso, 957 So.2d 121 (La. 2007) (An act 9 need not be intentional to support judicial discipline; a lack of conscious intent may support 10 disciplinary action...). 11

Judge Halverson's acts were intentional, especially in her mistreatment of her employees. She claims they were simply jokes or misunderstandings, or did not happen at all, or that she is the victim of a vindictive vendetta by all her employees against her. The evidence presented at the hearing proved otherwise. "Examination of judicial conduct depends not so much on the judge's motives but more on the conduct itself, the results thereof, and the impact such conduct might reasonably have upon knowledgeable observers." In re Complaint Against Kneifl, 351 N.W.2d at 696, 217 Neb. at 475, *citing* In re Stuhl, 233 S.E.2d 562, 292 N.C. 379 (N.C. 1977).

12

13

14

15

16

17

23

24

25

26

27

28

<sup>18</sup> Under the "law of the case doctrine," when an appellate court states a principle or rule of
 <sup>19</sup> law necessary to a decision, the principle or rule becomes the law of the case and must be
 <sup>20</sup> followed. <u>Hsu v. County of Clark</u>, 123 Nev. Adv. Op. 60 (December 27, 2007). Several of the
 <sup>21</sup> issues Judge Halverson raises in this appeal were already decided and are "law of the case" from
 <sup>22</sup> <u>Halverson I.</u> Now this Court simply has more evidence of them. That includes:

- that persistent *ex parte* contact with deliberating juries, including dining with them while talking to them about legal issues pertinent to the matter before the jury, violates Canon 3(B)(11);
- that *ex parte* contact with juries violates Canon 3(B)(2) and impairs a judge's ability to conduct criminal trials;
- that abusive conduct toward court personnel, including incessant yelling at staff, vulgarities, using pejorative, racial, ethnic or religion terms and public humiliation of the bailiff violate Canon 3(B)(4) and (5);

1 2	• that a judge does not perform diligently by sleeping on the bench and falling asleep regularly without taking steps to remedy any underlying health problem causing such		
	lethargy and it violates Canon 3;		
3 4	• that failure to cooperate with court administration violates Canon 3(C)(1) when it interferes with a court's functioning;		
5 6	• that the inability to conduct criminal jury trials in a proper manner interferes with court administration when it results in caseloads having to be re-distributed;		
7	• that contact with juries that results in re-trials causes expense and delay that interferes with court administration;		
9	• that retention of private bodyguards interferes with court administration;		
10	• that making unwarranted 911 calls to local police can wreak havoc on a court system, interfering with court administration;		
11			
12	<ul> <li>that a district court judge has a duty to cooperate with other judges and court officials, pursuant to Canon 3(C); and</li> </ul>		
13	• that it does not violate Due Process when the Commission allocates specified times for		
14 15	case presentation to the Special Prosecutor and the Respondent Judge in a judicial discipline hearing, especially where the Special Prosecutor does not use more time than the Respondent Judge.		
16	This Court has already stated that "an inattentive judge does not promote public		
17	confidence in the integrity and impartiality of the judiciary," citing Canon 2(A) and similar cases		
18	from Alaska and Massachusetts. See Paine v. State, 107 Nev. 998, 823 P.2d 281 (1991). See		
19	also Matter of Carpenter, 17 P.3d 91, 199 Ariz. 246 (Ariz. 2001). There can be no doubt that a		
20	judge snoozing or snoring or even nodding off repeatedly or regularly does not promote the		
21	public's confidence in the judiciary. A treatise entitled "The Case of 'Judge Nodd' and other		
22	Sleeping Judges-Media, Society and Judicial Sleepiness," by Dr. Ronald R. Grunstein, and		
23	others at the Royal Prince Alfred Hospital in Sydney, Austrialia, examined cases of judicial		
24	sleeping in 14 diverse settings all over the world, identifying the fitness-for-duty problems that		
25	arise from such cases. He concludes that "judicial sleepiness is clearly seen by the community		
26	as undermining their confidence in the judicial process." See		
27	http://online.wsj.com/public/resources/documents/judicialsleepiness.pdf.		
28	Pennsylvania found extreme misconduct when a judge repeatedly used racially and		
	ethnically insensitive and inappropriate terms for minority members of the community;		
	15		

- 15 -

1 repeatedly treated female staff in a demeaning manner; used indecorous behavior toward staff; 2 corrected and criticized staff loudly in the presence of third parties; pounded fists in anger and 3 slammed doors and threw files and engaged in loud, angry outbursts. In re Former Magisterial District Judge Wade J. Brown, 907 A.2d 684 (Pa. Ct. Jud. Disc 2006). In another case, In re 4 Mathesius, 910 A.2d 594 (N.J. 2006), misconduct was found where the judge talked to juries in 5 three cases (interestingly, in one named McDaniel, which also resulted in an acquittal); berated 6 employees; criticized fellow judges; acted petulant, sarcastic, angry and arrogant; and ingratiated 7 himself with the media writing "thank you" letters to editors. 8

It is reversible error in a criminal case where, among other things, a judge communicates 9 with the jury answering questions on substantive matters (what would happen if the jury "hung" 10 and could not decide; also sentencing issues) and the jury later deadlocks. Daniel v. State, 119 11 Nev. 498, 78 P.3d 890 (2003). Judge Halverson talked with the *McDaniel* jury twice while 12 dining with them in her courtroom. She says it was not on substantive matters but in the second 13 dinner chat that was recorded, she addressed the credibility of a child witness; the fact there was 14 a concurrent Family Court case that might solve some of the matters; that the State only had to 15 establish some things by a "scintilla of evidence;" and what could happen if the jury did not 16 reach a verdict. In Sotomayor, Judge Halverson talked to them about "felonies and gross 17 misdemeanors" but, because that part was behind closed doors and not recorded, it is unknown 18 exactly what she said to them. The McDaniel jury hung on half the 23 counts; the Sotomayor 19 jury acquitted on part of the serious charges. It cannot be assumed that Judge Halverson's 20 conduct had no influence on the outcome of those cases.

21 Another similar case is In re Lokuta, 964 A.2d 988 (Pa. Ct. Jud. Disc. 2008). The judge 22 was on a "war footing" with other judges and administrators and trusted no one. Her conduct in 23 chambers was impatient, undignified and discourteous toward her staff, law clerks, interns and secretaries; she created a tense, stressful atmosphere in her chambers, and impaired the ability of 24 her staff to properly perform their duties. She also instructed her staff to have no personal or 25 professional relationships with other courthouse personnel. She had screaming personal 26 arguments with her staff in front of court personnel, and berated her staff in front of other staff 27 members and court personnel. Her conduct was found to warrant discipline. 28

This Court already found in Halverson I that failure to cooperate with court 2 administration violates the canons when it interferes with court functioning. Failure to abide by 3 administrative orders of the Chief Justice warrants removal from office. In re Walsh, 587 S.E.2d 356, 356 S.C. 97 (S. C. 2003). A judge violating court administrative operations "shows disrespect for the basic principle which underlies the judicial system: respect for judicial orders." 5 In the Matter of George R. Robertson, No. 94, 647, Kansas Supreme Court, October 7, 2005. 6 (This case can be accessed online at

http://www.kscourts.org/kscases/supct/2005/20051007/94647.htm.)

Judge Elizabeth Halverson has committed substantial, repeated and egregious misconduct that warrants her removal from the judiciary. Any one of the acts which were alleged and proved by clear and convincing evidence, if taken alone, would not likely require that result, but the combination of them is overwhelming, and clearly does. These are not the simple mistakes of a "rookie judge." They illustrate a pattern of ignorance of the law and shocking professional incompetence; persistent and relentless verbal abuse of her employees; paranoia, suspicion and non-cooperation with her fellow judges and court staff; a demonstrated tendency to ridicule others and flaunt what she sees as her superiority; and a penchant for blaming others and lying to try to get herself out of trouble.

17 It is appropriate to consider Judge Halverson's actions in handling this matter overall, 18 including her performance in the hearing, her failure to comply with discovery and her 19 deceitfulness. See In re Franklin, 969 So.2d 591 (La. 2007). The public hearing gave this 20 Commission, and all who participated in or observed it<sup>4</sup>, a front-row seat into "Elizabeth 21 Halverson's courtroom" with five days of watching this judge in action. The behavior of Judge 22 Halverson was nothing short of astounding, and demonstrated a temperament ill-suited for the 23 bench. Her actions corroborated the testimony of many witnesses. She supplied some of the prosecution's best evidence against herself. She perpetrated an astounding record of misconduct 24 for so short an active tenure on the bench-seven months-and the fact that it began virtually at 25

26

1

4

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

27 28

> <sup>4</sup> Unfortunately, it was broadcast live on CNN and TRU-TV (formerly Court TV) and many portions of the hearing were posted on YouTube.

the inception of her judgeship, and continued throughout, shows that it is her nature, not her
inexperience, that drove such behavior.

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

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